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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

MICHAEL MONROE,

Plaintiff,

VS. Case No. 13-2086-EFM-DJW

CITY OF LAWRENCE, KANSAS
and
TARIK KHATIB,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Michael Monroe brings suit agatnBefendant City of Lawrence, Kansas and
Defendant Tarik Khatib, Chief of Police for thawrence Police Department. Plaintiff asserts
three claims: (1) denial of hlgerty interest without due process pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983
against the City of Lawrence, (2) race discrniation under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.
against the City of Lawrence, and (3) ratiscrimination under 42 U.S.C. 88 1981 and 1983
against the City of Lawrence and Chief Khatibefendants seek dismissal of Count | against the
City of Lawrence and Count IHgainst Chief Khatib. The Cduargely denies the motion but

grants it in small part.
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l. Factual and Procedural Background

Plaintiff Michael Monroe is an African-American and resides in Lawrence, Kansas.
Defendant City of Lawrence (“City”) is a home-rule municiparporation. Defendant Tarik
Khatib (“Chief Khatib”) is the Chief of Police for the Lawrence Police Department (“LPD”).

Monroe was employed by the City in the LPD from 1991 until his ultimate termination
on July 23, 2012. When Monroe began with the LR®was a patrol officer. In 2011, Monroe
worked as a Sergeant in the Investigationsdiawi, the position from which he was terminated.

2010 Investigation

In or about the spring of 2010, after the IKKbkh-for-tickets scantlavas reported in the
news, an LPD employee informed then Capt&ihatib about an reangement between a
Caucasian LPD sergeant (“MS”) and a membethef Kansas University Athletic Department
(“RJ”). Captain Khatib and Captain Zarnowiggoke with MS and asked whether MS received
free athletic event tickets from RJ “in excharigetaking care of traffic tickets.” MS admitted
to Captain Khatib that he had taken care ofva tiaffic tickets for RJ and admitted that he had
received tickets from RJ. MS, however, denied beahad received athletic tickets in exchange

for taking care of the traffic tickets. Captaildbatib and Zarnowiedlid not interview other

! These allegations are taken from the facts afosit in Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint (Doc.
53). The Court notes that Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 23) is based on the allegations contained in
Plaintiff's original Complaint. Duringhe briefing of the Motion to Dismis®laintiff requested leave to file an
Amended Complaint, which the Court granted (Doc. 3@efendants addressed these allegations in their reply
brief to their original motion to dismiss. Plaintifiowever, requested leave againfile a Second Amended
Complaint to add a few additional allegations—spedificas to Chief Khatib’'s “discretionary” actions.
Defendants did not file a response to Plaintiff's motiang the Court granted Pldffteave to file the Second
Amended Complaint. (Doc. 51). The Court will coesithe allegations as set forth in the Second Amended
Complaint as it is the operative pleading in the case.



witnesses regarding the complaint, and the LR&3ed its investigation into the matter. The
LPD allegedly did not discipline MS as a resultioé spring 2010 complai@ind investigation.

On or about July 29, 2010, tiaty received an anonymous attalleging that “quid pro
quos” existed between RJ and LPD officers, apécifically mentione@ MS as one of the
officers. The LPD allegedly did not reitithe issue with MS after this letter.

2011-2012 Investigation and Monroe’s Termination

Sometime after Khatib became the ChiefRulice in February 2011, the City again
received an anonymous letterleging that RJ received fawrfrom officers of the LPD,
specifically referencing MS. In May 2011, Chighatib contacted the LPD’s Office of
Professional Accountability regarding thanonymous letter. The LPD conducted an
investigation based on this let{gthe 2011-12 investigation”).

As part of the 2011-12 investigation, CaptaZarnowiec and Ward interviewed several
civiians and LPD officers, including Monroe.Captains Zarnowie@and Ward interviewed
Monroe on January 11 and 18, 2012, regarding tlegatlons in the second anonymous letter.
During the interviews, Monroe stated that sevgears before the interviews (and before the
investigation of the spring 2010 colamt), and at the request bfS, he dismissed two to three
traffic tickets RJ had received. Monroe statieat he dismissed the tickets because RJ was a
friend of MS. Monroe denied thhe dismissed tickets in excharfge KU athleticevent tickets.
Monroe also stated during the interviews thathad received tickets to KU sporting events, but
he paid for all of those tickets with the exceptiof tickets that he ldareceived from a third
party for one weekend at the Big 12 tournamerts a result of the 2011-12 investigation, the
City offered MS the opportunity to resign hesition with the LPD in lieu of termination.

Monroe was not offered such a choice.



On or about February 6, 2012, Captain Mike Pattrick informed Monroe that he was being
placed on administrative leave aseault of the 2011-12 investigati. On or about February 13,
2012, Chief Khatib met with Monroe and informiaich that he would be demoted from Sergeant
to officer assigned to the PalDivision, effective Februarg6, 2012 as a result of the 2011-12
investigation. Chief Khatib pvided Monroe with a letter, t&d February 13, 2012, confirming
his decision to demote Monroe.

On or about February 15, 2012, Chief Khatib received Monroe’s written objection to the
demotion decision. On February 21, 2012, Mons@s re-interviewed by Captains Zarnowiec
and Ward as part of the ongoing 2011-12 ingasion. On March 7, 2012, Chief Khatib met
with Monroe and informed him that, insteadeoflemotion, Monroe’s employment with the LPD
would be terminated, effective March 22, 2012.

Chief Khatib also sent ketter to Monroe orMarch 7, 2012 and fivited” Monroe to
attend a meeting on March 21 in which Monr@aild “present information in support of the
reasons why you should not be discharged as gfogae of the City of Lawrence.” A second
March 7 letter provided #t if Monroe was “dissatisfiedvith, or take exception to, any
discipline imposed upon you,” he could “exercibe rights affordedto you by the City
grievance policy.” Monroe contda that the language in theseo letters demonstrates that
Chief Khatib had already decided to termenatlonroe’s employment effective March 22
without a pre-termination hearing by an imgartribunal. On March 22, the LPD terminated
Monroe’s employment.

Monroe exercised his rights undée grievance process and appealed the dismissal. In
steps 1 and 2, Chief Khatib upheld the decisiotetminate Monroe. Step 3 of the grievance

process required Monroe to appeal the tertironato the Grievance Restiv Board (“Board”).
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The Board conducted the hearing from J@bethrough June 29, 2012. On June 29, 2012, the
Board issued the decision that it had decideshadify the discipline to demotion to the rank of
police officer. The Board also stat it would “reinstate pay dhe rate of top of range with
applicable competencies and bktsé effective February 26, 2012.

Both Monroe and Chief Khatib appealed the Board’s decision to the City Manager. On
July 23, 2012, the City Manageeversed the Board and uphelthief Khatib’'s decision to
terminate Monroe. Pursuant to the grievancegulare, the City Manager’s decision was “final
and subject to no further aggl.” Monroe was terminated for a second time on July 23, 2012.

Media Reports about the 2011-12 Investigation

In February 2012, an LPD captain informed Mmthat his name had been leaked to the
media as an officer involved in allegedly dissing traffic tickets in exchange for KU athletic
event tickets. On February 17, 2012, the MaybLawrence made a public statement stating
that an LPD police officer had fixed traffic tiets in exchange for receiving free KU athletic
event tickets and another police officer had knowledge of the arrangement but did nothing to
stop it. In March 2012, the Lawrence Journalfi¥aan several articles that concluded that
Monroe was one of the officers involved in tiket investigation due to Monroe’s termination
from the LPD. Since Monroe’s termination,fan Ward has made a statement to other LPD
officers that the LPD no longer believes thd& and RJ had any arrangement whereby MS
agreed to dismiss tickets in excharigefree athletic event tickets.

The Current Lawsuit

Monroe filed suit on February 19, 2013. In Morisofrst claim, he aserts that the City

of Lawrence denied him his established libertigliast without due process in violation of 42



U.S.C. § 1983. He claims that the City made numerous false statements with respect to his
termination from the LPD that injured his repidga or imposed a stigma that will prevent him
from obtaining future employment in law enforcermeMonroe also allegethat the City denied
his right to a pre-termination &gng before an impartial tribuhat a meaningful time and in a
meaningful manner. Monroe next asserts a dig@imination claim under Title VII, 42 U.S.C.
8 2000 et seq. against the City. Finally, Morsaihird claim involvesa race discrimination
claim pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 88 1984d 1983 against that and Chief Khatib. He claims that
Defendants terminated him because of his racé treated him differgly from Caucasian
employees who allegedly committed similar or more egregious activity.

Defendants move for the dismissal of Couagéinst the City and the dismissal of Count
Il against Chief Khatils.

Il. Legal Standard

A. Standard for Dismissal under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Beral Rules of Civil Proceder a defendant may move for
dismissal of any claim for whictine plaintiff has failed to state claim upon which relief can be

granted® Upon such motion, the court must decfdeénether the complaint contains ‘enough

2 Plaintiff states in his complaintsaththe City denied him his established property interest. In Plaintiff's
briefing with respect to Defendants’ motion to dismiss, however, he affirmatively states that he do@sgrmt br
claim for violation of due process on the basis of a protgutgerty interest. Thus, the Court will not address this
issue, and Plaintiff does not have a claim on this basis.

3 Defendants also moved for dismissal of Count Ill anlisis that Plaintiff failed to state a claim because
Plaintiff did not reference 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in his Complaint, and claims for violations of § 1981 agtarettsts
must be brought pursuant to 81983. Plaintiff's Amended Complaint specifically alleges that he brings his claim
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and requests the remedies under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Thus, Defendants’ argument on
this point is moot.

* Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).



facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its faéeA’claim is facially plausible if the
plaintiff pleads facts sufficient for the court to reasbly infer that the defendant is liable for the
alleged misconduét. The plausibility standard reflectsetiequirement in Rule 8 that pleadings
provide defendants with fair notice of the natofeclaims as well the grounds on which each
claim rests. Under 12(b)(6), the court must accept tase all factual allegations in the
complaint, but need not afford suatpresumption to legal conclusichd/iewing the complaint
in this manner, the court must decide whetherpllaatiff's allegations gre rise to more than
speculative possibilities.If the allegations in the complaiare “so general that they encompass
a wide swath of conduct, much of it innocengrtithe plaintiffs ‘have not nudged their claims
across the line from conceivable to plausibl&’ ”

lll.  Analysis

A. Plaintiff's First Claim—De nial of Liberty Interest without Due Process under 42
U.S.C. §1983

Plaintiff alleges in Count | aiolation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 fdhe denial of his liberty

interest without due process against the Cityefendants first argue that Plaintiff fails to

® Ridge at Red Hawk, LLC v. Schneio493 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007) (quotBgjl Atlantic Corp.
v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007pee also Ashcroft v. Igha@56 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

®lgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citinfwombly 566 U.S. at 556).

" See Robbins v. Oklahon&l9 F.3d 1242, 1248 (10th Cir. 2008) (citations omitteel; alsded. R. Civ.
P. 8(a)(2).

8 |gbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79.

° See id.(“The plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,” but it asks for more than a
sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” (Citation omitted)).

19 Robbins 519 F.3d at 1247 (quotifgvombly 566 U.S. at 570).



adequately plead that a liberinterest was infringetf. Defendants next cwend that Plaintiff
fails to adequately allege that he was denied due process. The Court will first address whether
Plaintiff adequately alleges a deg@tion of his libety interest.

“The liberty interest that due process pas includes the individual's freedom to earn a
living.”** There are four elements in stating @mléor deprivation of diberty interest under 42
U.S.C. § 1983. “[F]irst, the statements shumpugn the employee’s good name, reputation,
honor, or integrity; second, the gatents must be false; third etlstatements must occur in the
course of terminating the employee or mimteclose other employment opportunities; and
fourth, the statements must be publish¥d.”

Defendants argue that Plaintfiils to state a claim because he fails to point to any
specific factually inaccurate séabent made by Defendants pritr Monroe’s termination.
Although the court agreesah“a formulaic recitatin of the elements of a cause of action will
not do,™ Plaintiff sufficiently alleges that th€ity made false statements regarding his
involvement in the LPD’s tickefixing investigation prior toand in connection with his
termination from the LPD. Plaintiff specificallyieges that he did not sliniss traffic tickets in
exchange for athletic event tickets. In addition, he alleges that Defendant City issued false
statements in February and Marthat Plaintiff was an employéevolved in fixing tickets for

RJ. City officials also made statements thatLPD officer involved in fixing tickets was no

1 As noted above, Plaintiff affirmatily states in his response to Defendant’s motion that he does not bring
a claim for violation of due process on the basis of a protected property interest. Thus, the Court will not address
this issue.

2| entsch v. Marshall741 F.2d 301, 303 (10th Cir. 1984).

3 Darr v. Town of Telluride, Colp495 F.3d 1243, 1255 (10th Cir. 2007).

4 Twombly 550 U.S. at 555.



longer employed with the LPD in March. Thusg t8ity’s public statements that Monroe was
involved in the ticket-fixing wuld allegedly be false and would be in connection to the
termination of his employment.

Defendants next contend thatiptiff fails to adequately Ege that he was denied due
process. Instead, Defendants assert that Pfairdllegations demonstrate that he received
constitutionally sufficient due process. “A@ssential principle of due process is that a
deprivation of life, liberty orproperty be preceded by trae and opportunity for hearing
appropriate to the mare of the case*® In general, an individuas entitled to a pre-termination
hearing before an impartial tribunfdl.“In particular, a preterminimn hearing requires: (1) oral
or written notice to the employee of the aes against him; (2) aexplanation of the
employer’s evidence and (3) an optunity for the employee to present his side of the stry.”

Plaintiff alleges that he was denied thghti to a pre-termination hearing and a post-
termination hearing before an impartial tribunaBpecifically, Plaintiff alleges that he was
informed by letter that his employment wouldtbeminated effective March 22 but that he could
appear before Chief Khatib on March 21 to d&s his impending termination. It is not clear
from the complaint whether Plaintiff actually reesil the opportunity to psent his side of the

story before his termination became effectii.also is not clear whether he was given the

15 Defendants assert that many of the alleged statements regarding Monroe’s termination were not made by
Defendant City but rather made by third parties beyond Defendant City’s control. Defendant&rhosiye upon
material not cited to specifically in the Complaint (although attached to the Complaint). Defendants ask the Court to
go beyond the allegations to make the determination as to whether the City (or another source) made these false
statements. Plaintiff specifically alleges in his complaiat the City made false statements. Because the Court is
considering a motion to dismiss, the Court will not consider the material outside the Complaint.

% Riggins v. Goodmarb72 F.3d 1101, 1108 (10th Cir. 2009) (quotation marks and citation omitted).
" Montgomery v. City of Ardmor865 F.3d 926, 935-36 (10th Cir. 2004).

181d. at 936 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).



opportunity to present his informati to an impartial tribnal prior to the #ective date of his
termination:” Based only on the allegations in the complaint, the Court cannot affirmatively
conclude that Plaintiff was @en constitutionally sufficiendue process. Thus, the Court
concludes that Plaintiff adequately alleges a depomaof his liberty interest without due
process. Defendants’ motion tesriiss on this basis is denied.

B. Plai:r;?t(i)ff's Third Claim—Race Discrimination in Violation of 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1981,
198

Defendants assert that Plaintiff fails tcatst a claim against Chief Khatib. First,
Defendants contend that to the extPlaintiff asserts a claim agair@hief Khatib in his official
capacity, his claim is in reality a claim against tity and must fail against Chief Khatib as a
matter of law. A suit against a government offiagmahis official capacity'is essentially another
way of pleading an action against tfeinty or municipality they represerft.”“When a plaintiff
names both a municipality and a mizipal officer in his official capacity as defendants in an
action, the suit against thdfioer is redundant, confusinggnd unnecessary and should be
dismissed.® Thus, the Court dismisses Plaintiff's claim against Chief Khatib in his official

capacity.

19 plaintiff alleges in his complaint two termination dates: March 22, 2012 and July 23, 2012. It is unclear
as to which date Plaintiff was terminated. This disiimccould be important as to whether Plaintiff was given pre-
termination or post-termination due process requiremes¢e Riggins572 F.3d at 1110 n. 6. The allegations in
this case appear to be similar to the factRiggins The record, however, iRigginswas much more developed
because the case proceeded to summary judgment.

20 As noted above, Defendants also argued in their original motion to dismiss that Plaintiff failed to state a
claim because Plaintiff did not refe@n42 U.S.C. § 1983. Because Pléfirdmended his complaint to include a
reference to § 1983, Defendants’ argument on this point is moot.

21porro v. Barnes624 F.3d 1322, 1328 (10th Cir. 2010).

22 Sims v. Unified Gov't of Wyandotte Cnti20 F. Supp. 2d 938, 944 (D. Kan. 2000).
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Defendants next contend that Plaintiff'saich against Chief Khatib in his individual
capacity fails because Chief Kiatis entitled to qualified immunity. Qualified immunity
protects a government official when performidigcretionary functions from civil liability as
long as his conduct does not violate a clearlybdisteed constitutional or statutory right that a
reasonable person would have knditn.“In resolving a motion talismiss based on qualified
immunity, a court must consider whether tlaet$ that a plaintiff he alleged make out a
violation of a constitutional righand whether the right at issue was clearly established at the
time of defendant’s alleged miscondutt.”

Defendants argue that they have already destnated that Plaintiff does not allege a
constitutional violation. Yet, the constitutional \atbn at issue with respeto this claim is not
Plaintiff's alleged liberty interest®> Instead, it is Plaintiff's ght to be free from racial
discrimination. Indeed, Plaintiff states in mesponse that Defendants terminated him because
of his race in violation of clearly establishechrdiscrimination laws. Rus, Plaintiff alleges a
race-based equal protection claim.

“In racial discrimination suits, thelements of a plaintiff's sa are the same whether that
case is brought under §§ 1981 1983 or Title VII.*®* “To make out a prima facie case of

discrimination, [Plaintifff must demonstrate (1) mieership in a protected class, (2) adverse

% Stewart v. Beagh701 F.3d 1322, 1329 (10th Cir. 2012) (citifgrlow v. Fitzgerald 457 U.S. 800, 818
(1982)).

24|d. at 1329-30 (quotation marks and citation omitted).

% The Court notes, however, that it previously determthat Plaintiff adequately alleged a deprivation of
his protected liberty interest.

%6 Carney v. City & Cnty. of Denveb34 F.3d 1269, 1273 (10th Cir. 2008) (quotation marks and citation
omitted).
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employment action, and (3) disparate tmeent among similarly situated employeé5.In this
case, Plaintiff alleges that he is Africamm@rican and that Defendants terminated his
employment. Specifically, Plaiff alleges that Chief Khatib made the initial decision to
terminate his employment. Plaintiff alleges tlahilarly situated Caucasian employees were
treated differently for similar, or more egregiobehavior. Plaintiff also alleges that a similarly
situated Caucasian employee was permitteddigme—rather than be terminated—in connection
with the same investigation. Furthermore, Riffi contends that another similarly situated
Caucasian employee allegedly was not disciplin@tius, Plaintiff sufficiently alleges a claim
for race discrimination under § 1981.

With respect to Defendant Khatib’s qualified immunity defense, the constitutional right
to be free from racial discrimination waseafly established at ¢htime of Plaintiff's
termination’® Accordingly, the Court denies Defendsinmotion to dismiss Plaintiff's claim

against Defendant Khatib in his individwapacity on the basaf qualified immunity.

271d. (quotation marks and citation omitted).

2 See, e.g., Dasgupta v. Harrid07 F. App’x 325, 331 (10th Cir. 2011) (stating that well before 20086,
public officials had adequate notice that employment discrimination on the basis of race violates § 1981).
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IT IS ACCORDINGLY ORDERED this 27th day of January, 2014, that Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Counts | and Il of &htiffs Complaint (Doc. 23) is herebENIED IN
PART AND GRANTED IN PART . It is granted only with respect to the claim against
Defendant Khatib in his official capacityt is denied irall other respects.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

ERIC F. MELGREN
WNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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